IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF DISH
NETWORK DERIVATIVE
LITIGATION,

SUPREME COURT No. 69012

JACKSONVILLE POLICE AND
FIRE PENSION FUND,

SUPREME COURT No. 69729

Appellant,

vs.

GEORGE R. BROKAW; CHARLES
M. LILLIS; TOM A. ORTLOF;
CHARLES W. ERGEN; CANTEY M.
ERGEN; JAMES DEFRANCO;
DAVID K. MOSKOWITZ; CARL E.
VOGEL; THOMAS A. CULLEN;
KYLE J. KISER; AND R. STANTON
DODGE,

Respondent.

FILED

OCT 20 2016

ELIZABETH A. BROWN
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
BY S. Young
DEPUTY CLERK

**APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF
[REDACTED]**

Jeff Silvestri (NSBN 5997)
Amanda C. Yen (NSBN 9726)
Debbie Leonard (NSBN 8620)
2300 W. Sahara Avenue, Suite 1200
Las Vegas, NV 89102

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Court has jurisdiction over this consolidated appeal pursuant to Rules 3A(b)(1) and (b)(8) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure because the District Court entered a final judgment in this action, and entered a special order after final judgment.

This consolidated appeal is timely. The District Court issued its written judgment on September 18, 2015 and Appellant was served with written notice of entry of judgment on October 2, 2015. Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal in Case No. 69012 on October 12, 2015.

The District Court issued its special order on January 8, 2016 and Appellant was served with written notice of the special order on January 12, 2016. Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal in Case No. 69729 on February 2, 2016.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to Rule 17(a)(10) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure, this matter is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court because this matter originated in business court.

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Did the District Court err in providing the Special Litigation Committee (“SLC”) with a presumption that it was independent and conducted a good faith and thorough investigation?

2. Did the District Court err in failing to properly apply the governing legal standards used in determining whether an SLC is independent and conducted a good faith and through investigation?

3. Did the District Court err in improperly disregarding evidence relevant to the questions before the District Court concerning the SLC's independence and the thoroughness and good faith of its investigation?

4. Did the District Court err in holding that electronic discovery costs are taxable under NRS 18.005, since the statute does not list such costs as properly taxable and controlling precedent states that NRS 18.005 is to be strictly construed?

5. Did the District Court err in finding that the SLC's submitted support for expenses in its Memorandum of Costs, including over \$150,000 in electronic discovery costs, established that the SLC's costs were reasonable and necessary?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant filed a derivative suit challenging certain conduct of Charlie Ergen, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of DISH Network, Inc. ("DISH" or the "Company"). In response, DISH's Board of Directors (the "Board") created the SLC to investigate the derivative claims. After concluding that it was not in DISH's best interest to pursue the derivative claims, the SLC filed a motion in the District Court to defer to the SLC's decision to not pursue the claims and to

dismiss the Complaint. The District Court granted the SLC's motion and dismissed the Complaint. The District Court also awarded costs in favor of the SLC and against Appellant, including over \$150,000 in electronic discovery costs.

V. SUMMARY OF FACTS

As explained in the legal argument, the District Court was operating under a summary judgment standard in making its decision to defer to the SLC's conclusion. As such, the case is fact-specific and Appellant offers this summary of facts to provide a short explanation of the more detailed facts that follow.¹

Beginning in 2012, Ergen, the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, and controlling shareholder of DISH, a satellite television service provider, abused his power to usurp a significant DISH corporate opportunity to acquire the debt of a satellite spectrum firm called LightSquared Inc. ("LightSquared"). Notably, Ergen admitted in U.S. federal court that (1) he had a fiduciary duty to DISH and (2) should have given DISH the option to make the investment. Regardless, Ergen chose to personally purchase the LightSquared debt and to conceal his actions from the DISH Board until after his buying spree ended. And in his effort to protect himself from a personal lawsuit arising from how he concealed the debt purchases

¹ All facts in the summary are set forth in full in the statement of facts with record cites to support each such statement. *See* NRAP 28(e). Because this summary is intended only as an aid to this Court to better understand the following statement of facts – and not as actual support for the legal argument – no record cites are included in this summary.

from LightSquared, Ergen also cost DISH the chance to buy LightSquared's valuable spectrum assets at a fraction of their market value.

When Ergen finally disclosed his purchases to the Board, he pressured DISH to bid \$2 billion to acquire LightSquared's spectrum out of bankruptcy, thus assuring repayment of LightSquared's debt at par value and generating a personal profit of \$800 million.

The Board formed a "Special Transaction Committee" (the "STC") consisting of the only two independent directors on the DISH Board to assess whether DISH should follow Ergen's bidding recommendation. The STC conditioned its support of DISH's bid on the STC: (1) continuing to investigate whether DISH had viable claims to some or all of Ergen's investment profits, and (2) remaining involved in the bidding process to protect DISH against Ergen's conflicting interests due to his massive debt purchases and his potential personal exposure to LightSquared. In response to the STC's conditions, the Board, which was loyal to Ergen, disbanded the STC.

With the STC out of the process, Ergen's Board conditioned DISH's bid for LightSquared (which was threatening to sue Ergen) on Ergen receiving a *personal* release of any claims that LightSquared, other parties to LightSquared's bankruptcy and the U.S. Bankruptcy Trustee may have had against Ergen. Ergen then promptly caused the Board to give him unfettered discretion to withdraw

DISH's bid for the LightSquared spectrum assets entirely so that he could further increase the pressure on LightSquared to drop its claims against him and pay him the full par value of the LightSquared debt.

After a full trial with extensive live testimony and documentary evidence, and citing a "troubling pattern of non-credible testimony" by Ergen, the Bankruptcy Court entered facts that established that Ergen had used his massive influence over the Board to take the corporate opportunity from DISH and to protect his personal investment in LightSquared. Among other things, the Bankruptcy Court found that Ergen used DISH resources and his position as DISH's Chairman to purchase LightSquared debt for his personal profit; Ergen used his control over DISH's Board to protect his personal investment in LightSquared debt; and the Board and the Officer Defendants consciously favored Ergen's interest over the interests of DISH and DISH's public shareholders.

LightSquared ultimately sold its spectrum to JPMorgan and other Wall Street firms for a price billions more than the \$2.2 billion for which DISH could have owned the assets, and paid Ergen approximately \$1.5 billion for his personal debt. *Ergen ultimately made an \$800 million profit while DISH failed to acquire extremely valuable spectrum at a fraction of its market cost.*

National financial columnists, writing for sources like Reuters, the *New York Times*, and the *Wall Street Journal*, described Ergen's actions as a "master class in

corporate governance bullying,” highlighting the need for judicial review to provide “an assurance of integrity for the public markets.”² Sophisticated columnists questioned whether Ergen’s “very nice friends” should be “representing shareholders on Dish’s board.”³

Appellant filed the instant derivative suit challenging Ergen’s misconduct, and the DISH Board formed the SLC to investigate and evaluate whether pursuing the derivative claims was in DISH’s best interest. The SLC concluded that it was not and filed a motion to defer to its decision and dismiss the case (the “Motion to Defer”).

The question the District Court should have decided in determining whether to grant the Motion to Defer is whether the SLC carried *its burden* to show no genuine issues of material fact existed regarding the SLC’s independence and the good faith and thoroughness of its investigation into Appellant’s derivative claims.

² Alison Frankel, *Charlie Ergen’s master class in corporate governance bullying*, Reuters, Nov. 18, 2013, available at <http://blogs.reuters.com/alison-frankel/2013/11/18/charlie-ergens-master-class-in-corporate-governance-bullying>; see also Sharon Terlep, *Dish Director Quit Amid Flap*, Wall St. J., Sept. 10, 2013, available at <http://www.wsj.com/articles/SB10001424127887323864604579065130544679594>.

³ Gretchen Morgenson, *Dish Suit Shows Close Ties Between Executive and Board Members*, N.Y. Times, July 10, 2015, available at <http://www.nytimes.com/2015/07/12/business/dish-suit-shows-close-ties-between-executive-and-board-members.html>.

Thus, the standard the District Court should have applied was akin to a summary judgment standard.

Following limited discovery, Appellant presented extensive evidence creating material issues of disputed fact regarding both the SLC's independence and the good faith and thoroughness of its investigation. Appellant presented evidence that the members of DISH's initial two-person Special Litigation Committee – Tom Ortolf (“Ortolf”) and George Brokaw (“Brokaw”) – both had deep, close, personal, familial, and loving relationships and connections to Ergen and his family, including Ergen's wife and fellow DISH director Cantey Ergen. Appellant also showed that the Board's decision to belatedly add a third member to the SLC, Charles Lillis (“Lillis”), changed nothing, as Lillis also shared a very long, close, deep, and personal relationship with Ergen's “right-hand man” at DISH. Finally, Appellant presented evidence that the SLC's handling of its investigation confirmed its lack of independence and was not thorough or done in good faith. The SLC: (1) prejudged the outcome of its investigation and affirmatively advocated against Appellant on behalf of Ergen and DISH despite the fact that both Ergen and DISH had their own counsel; (2) concealed a wide range of information damaging to Ergen; (3) refused to interview anyone hostile to Ergen; and (4) purposely took no position on certain claims and issues that the SLC had no way to dispute on the merits. Notwithstanding the evidence presented

by Appellant, as reflected in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law at the heart of this appeal (the “Order”), the District Court granted the Motion to Defer and dismissed the case. The District Court also awarded costs in favor of the SLC.

VI. STATEMENT OF FACTS⁴

A. Ergen Usurps a DISH Opportunity and Front-Runs a DISH Bid.

Ergen has controlled and dominated DISH since he co-founded the Company in 1980. (Vol. 2 JA000286; JA000288). Ergen is the Company’s Chairman and CEO, owns more than 85% of DISH’s voting power, and determines DISH’s business strategy. (Vol. 2 JA000286, JA000288). For years, DISH has sought to acquire wireless spectrum (including through acquiring companies that already own spectrum), in order to offset weakness in DISH’s satellite-TV business. (Vol. 2 JA000344-55).

In January 2011, the FCC authorized LightSquared, a wireless spectrum company, to develop a nationwide wireless broadband network. (Vol. 18 JA004467). Technical concerns emerged, however, that prevented LightSquared from using its spectrum and, by the fall of 2011, the market price of LightSquared

⁴ Throughout this brief, citations to the record regarding the legal issues on appeal – *i.e.*, whether the SLC was independent and conducted its investigation in good faith – are to record evidence developed in discovery and presented to the District Court on the SLC’s Motion to Defer. Because the District Court dismissed Appellants’ underlying claims without a discovery record, citations concerning Appellants’ underlying factual allegations are to record evidence where available, and otherwise to portions of the record discussing those allegations.

debt had declined drastically. (Vol. 2 JA000360-61; Vol. 18 JA004468.) LightSquared's spectrum was particularly valuable to DISH, and buying LightSquared debt at depressed prices furthered DISH's long-term strategy. (Vol. 18 JA004467-68.) Ergen admitted under oath that, "as chairman of DISH, I knew I had a fiduciary responsibility to the company and that first and foremost, they should be given the opportunity for that investment." (Vol. 28 JA006903 at 33:7-1.) Ergen asked DISH's Treasurer, defendant Jason Kiser ("Kiser"), to determine whether DISH could buy LightSquared debt. (Vol. 28 JA006895:10-18.)

[REDACTED] DISH properly could purchase the debt – at first directly and, even when later listed as an "Excluded Purchaser" on LightSquared's credit agreement, indirectly through an affiliate. (Vol. 18 JA004469; Vol. 26 JA006480; Vol. 29 JA007170-71.) Ergen decided, however, to acquire LightSquared debt personally, surreptitiously keeping for himself the opportunity to reap massive profits. (Vol. 18 JA004469; Vol. 2 JA000363-64.) Ergen knew that his investment in LightSquared debt was virtually risk-free, because he could use his control over DISH to make it bid for LightSquared's spectrum at a price that would make Ergen whole (and, if someone else topped DISH's bid, Ergen would still be paid in full). (Vol. 2 JA000363-64.)

Misusing corporate resources, Ergen told Kiser to create a wholly owned entity, SP Special Opportunities LLC ("SPSO"), to purchase LightSquared debt for

Ergen's personal account. (Vol. 2 JA000363-64.) On May 14, 2012, LightSquared filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy. (Vol. 19 JA004725.) Between April 13, 2012 and April 26, 2013, Ergen, through SPSO, bought \$844,323,097 in face value of LightSquared secured debt, for \$693,559,018. (Vol. 22 JA005425-26.)

B. Ergen Undermines the STC in Retaliation For Questioning His Debt Purchases.

On May 2, 2013, Ergen finally disclosed to the DISH Board that he had purchased LightSquared debt. (Vol. 8 JA001942.) Seeking to lock in his investment profits, Ergen proposed that DISH bid \$2 billion for LightSquared's spectrum, and that DISH submit an offer "now" and "require prompt acceptance (e.g. by May 15)"; the bid ensured that LightSquared could repay Ergen's secured debt and generate a huge profit for Ergen. (Vol. 20 JA004755; Vol. 18 JA004471; Vol. 22 JA005425-26.) Ergen did not disclose the amount he spent to acquire the debt, the dates of his purchases, or his expected profit if DISH were to purchase LightSquared's spectrum out of bankruptcy. (Vol. 9 JA002031-35.) Nor did Ergen disclose that DISH could have purchased LightSquared debt itself, either directly or through an affiliate. (Vol. 18 JA004471.)

Ergen admitted that his LightSquared debt purchases created a conflict of interest with DISH and recognized that the Board needed an independent committee "to make sure that [a personal profit to Ergen resulting from DISH's

bid] would be fair to the shareholders.” (Vol. 7 JA001648-49.) On May 8, 2013, the Board created the STC to “independently vet” any DISH purchase of LightSquared spectrum. (Vol. 9 JA002003-08.) The STC comprised DISH’s only two independent directors, non-parties Gary Howard (“Howard”) and Steven Goodbarn (“Goodbarn”). (Vol. 9 JA002005.) The Board delegated to the STC “all the powers and authority of the Board to accomplish the purposes and to carry out the intent of the resolutions herein,” including (1) reviewing and evaluating (including any potential conflicts of interest arising out of, or in connection with, the Ergen LightSquared Transaction) the terms and conditions of the Ergen LightSquared Transaction; (2) rejecting any proposal from Mr. Ergen relating to the Ergen LightSquared Transaction; (3) negotiating definitive agreements; and (4) determining whether such terms and conditions (if any) of the Ergen LightSquared Transaction are fair to the Corporation. (Vol. 9 JA002005.)

To protect the STC from Ergen’s admitted power over the Board, the STC’s enabling resolution made clear that the STC could be terminated *only* upon one of two events: “(i) . . . the withdrawal or other abandonment of any proposal for the Ergen LightSquared Transaction; or (ii) the Ergen LightSquared Transaction Committee’s determination, *in its sole and absolute discretion*, as set forth in its written notice to the Chairman of the Board of Directors.” (Vol. 9 JA002007 (emphasis added).)

C. The Board Terminates the STC to Protect Ergen.

On May 15, 2013 – one week after the STC was formed – Ergen personally offered to pay \$2 billion for LightSquared through his wholly owned special purpose vehicle, L-Band Acquisition Corporation LLC (“LBAC”). (Vol. 9 JA002040-48.) Ergen’s bid hamstrung the STC because he set a “floor” for the price of LightSquared’s assets – including any bid by DISH or any alternative bid – and thus assured that LightSquared could repay Ergen’s secured debt at par. (Vol. 8 JA001685 at 300:5-11.) Indeed, STC member-Goodbarn testified that Ergen’s personal bid left no viable way for DISH to propose any lower bid for LightSquared. (Vol. 8 JA001806 at 100:16-101:5.)

On or about July 18, 2013, Ergen raised the stakes again and informed the STC that he planned to increase his personal bid for LightSquared spectrum to \$2.2 billion. (Vol. 10 JA002436- 42; Vol. 18 JA004476.) Ergen further informed the STC that DISH would miss out on the opportunity to acquire LightSquared spectrum because his other controlled company, EchoStar, would join in the threatened bid. (Vol. 10 JA002439.)

On July 21, 2013, based on the STC’s financial advisor’s *preliminary* assessment that the value of LightSquared spectrum to DISH was between \$4.4 billion and \$13.3 billion, with a midpoint of **\$8.85 billion**, the STC recommended that DISH submit a conditional \$2.22 billion bid. (Vol. 34 JA008256; Vol. 34

JA008342-43.) Notably, the STC's recommendation expressly conditioned the bid on (1) the STC's involvement in the negotiations to "*monitor and manage potential conflicts of interest as they arise*"; and (2) the STC's continued investigation of Ergen's debt purchases. (Vol. 9 JA002198-99 (emphasis added).) The STC did not pass on the fairness of the overall transaction to DISH and DISH's public shareholders because, as STC-member Goodbarn explained, "*we had not completed the process. We only reached a conclusion on the valuation. We did not reach a conclusion regarding the conflict of interest, and that's really integral to that decision. . . .should we go after any profits that Charlie [Ergen] has in those bonds and say those belong to DISH, we specifically reserve that.*" (Vol. 8 JA001840 at 236:18 - 22; JA001841 at 238:25-239:3 (emphasis added).)

Immediately after the STC issued its report, the Board abruptly terminated the STC even though doing so was contrary to the provisions in the May 8, 2015 enabling resolution that created the STC. (Vol. 8 JA001836 at 219:3-15; Vol. 9 JA002007.)

D. Ergen Causes DISH to Walk Away from the Valuable Opportunity to Purchase LightSquared Spectrum in Order to Protect Himself.

On September 30, 2013, the Bankruptcy Court approved DISH's \$2.2 billion bid as the "stalking horse" bid for the upcoming auction of LightSquared spectrum. (Vol. 12 JA002855:7-58:6; Vol. 20 JA004815.) On November 15, 2013,

LightSquared filed claims against Ergen personally, as well as against SPSO and DISH. (Vol. 20 JA004825-26.) LightSquared alleged that Ergen's debt purchases violated the LightSquared credit agreement, and that DISH was liable for tortious interference by assisting Ergen. (Vol. 20 JA004826-27.) [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] DISH's bid for LightSquared spectrum was not only conditioned upon LightSquared releasing its claims against him personally, but also upon Ergen being paid in full on his LightSquared debt position. (Vol. 30 JA007264:3-7; JA007267:10-12.) Ergen threatened to terminate DISH's efforts to acquire valuable LightSquared spectrum [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] (Vol. 30 JA007264:3-7; JA007265:14-16; JA007267:10-12.) [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] (Vol. 30 JA007231-35.)

The SLC hid this information from the District Court. (Vol. 26 JA006471; Vol. 20 JA004830 at n.741.)

On December 11, 2013 – the date for the LightSquared bankruptcy auction – no other bidder for LightSquared's spectrum had emerged, and DISH was poised to acquire LightSquared's spectrum for \$2.22 billion. (Vol. 14 JA003373.) However, LightSquared cancelled the pending bankruptcy auction, identifying DISH's requirement that LightSquared release its pending claims against Ergen as a "very big factor" in the cancellation. (Vol. 14 JA003457:11; Vol. 24 JA005890.)

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