**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

IN THE MATTER OF DISH  
NETWORK CORPORATION  
DERIVATIVE LITIGATION.

JACKSONVILLE POLICE AND FIRE  
PENSION FUND,

Appellant,

vs.

CHARLES W. ERGEN; GEORGE R.  
BROKAW; THOMAS A. CULLEN;  
JAMES DEFRANCO; R. STANTON  
DODGE; CANTEY M. ERGEN; KYLE  
J. KISER; CHARLES M. LILLIS;  
DAVID K. MOSKOWITZ; TOM A.  
ORTOLF; AND CARL E. VOGEL,

Respondents.

Supreme Court Case No.: 69012

Electronically Filed  
Aug 17 2016 01:19 p.m.

District Court Case No.

A-13-686775-B

Tracie K. Lindeman  
Clerk of Supreme Court

*Consolidated with:*

Supreme Court Case No.: 69729

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

As detailed below, under Nevada law, the District Court was required to defer to the SLC's business judgment upon finding that the SLC was independent and conducted a good faith, thorough investigation. The District Court's Decision, therefore, must be affirmed unless these findings were clearly erroneous, and they were not. Jacksonville does not even attempt to argue that they were clearly erroneous. As summarized below and detailed herein, there was not even a

genuine issue of material fact as to the independence of the SLC or the good faith, thoroughness of its investigation.

In the alternative, if the SLC was entitled to deference only if the District Court determined that there was no genuine issue of material fact concerning the independence of the SLC or the good faith, thoroughness of its investigation, the District Court also made this determination, and it was correct.

There is no merit to Jacksonville's contentions that the District Court erred by presuming the independence of the SLC, placing the burden on the issue of independence on Jacksonville or failing to determine whether there was a genuine issue of material fact concerning the independence of the SLC or the good faith, thoroughness of its investigation. If the District Court had done any of these things, it would have been correct under Nevada law. But the District Court did not do any of these things. Nor did the District Court equate independence with financial independence.

Finally, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in taxing costs for electronic discovery, photocopying and scanning and teleconferences.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Under the Business Judgment Rule, the District Court’s Decision Should Be Affirmed Based Upon Its Factual Findings That the SLC Was Independent and Conducted a Good Faith, Thorough Investigation.**

“[U]nder Nevada’s corporations laws, a corporation’s ‘board of directors has full control over the affairs of the corporation.’” *Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp.*, 122 Nev. 621, 632, 137 P.3d 1171, 1178 (2006) (quoting NRS 78.120(1)). The board therefore may decide whether to terminate claims asserted on behalf of the corporation. *Id.* (“In managing the corporation’s affairs, the board of directors may generally decide whether to take legal action on the corporation’s behalf.”); *see also In re Amerco Derivative Litig.*, 127 Nev. 196, 232, 252 P.3d 681, 705 (2011) (Pickering, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part) (“Among the matters entrusted to a corporation’s directors is the decision to litigate—or not to litigate—a claim by the corporation against third parties.”). The board may delegate its authority to make this decision to a committee of the board, such as a special litigation committee. *See* NRS 78.125.

Under Nevada’s business judgment rule, a court must defer to a committee’s business judgment, if the committee was independent, acted in good faith and was adequately informed, such as by conducting a thorough investigation. *See* NRS 78.138; *La. Mun. Police Emps. Ret. Sys. v. Wynn*, No. 14-15695, 2016 WL 3878228, at \*5 (9th Cir. July 18, 2016) (applying Nevada law) (“[A]bsent

sufficient reason to doubt the directors' ability to make disinterested and independent decisions about litigation, the board is not only empowered but optimally positioned to make decisions on behalf of the corporation and, if appropriate, pursue litigation.”) (citations omitted); *Shoen*, 122 Nev. at 632, 644-45, 137 P.3d at 1179, 1187 (The business judgment rule provides a board of directors “protection in conducting the corporation’s affairs[.]” and therefore protects a board’s decision as to whether the company should assert claims, unless a plaintiff can establish that the board was interested, lacked independence or was not adequately informed.); *Horwitz v. Sw. Forest Indus., Inc.*, 604 F. Supp. 1130, 1134 (D. Nev. 1985) (applying Nevada law) (same); *Campbell v. Yu*, 25 F. Supp. 3d 472, 485 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (applying Nevada law) (“‘It is the essence of the business judgment rule that a court will not apply 20/20 hindsight to second guess a board’s decision[.]’”) (citation omitted).

The decision whether to initiate litigation by or on behalf of the company is committed to the sound business judgment of the board of directors. *Shoen*, 122 Nev. at 632, 137 P.3d at 1178. As with any decision by a board of directors or a duly appointed committee thereof, the decision by the board (or, here, the SLC), to initiate, prosecute or terminate litigation in the name of the company is within the business judgment of the board, and not subject to judicial second-guessing unless the SLC has been shown to have breached its fiduciary duties in making that

decision. So long as the SLC complied with its duty of loyalty by acting independently and in good faith, and met its duty of care by acting in an informed manner, its decision is entitled to deference.<sup>7</sup>

For example, in the seminal case concerning special litigation committees, *Auerbach v. Bennett*, 393 N.E.2d 994 (N.Y. 1979), the New York Court of Appeals explained,

[T]he *substantive aspects of a decision to terminate* a shareholders' derivative action against defendant corporate directors made by a committee of disinterested directors appointed by the corporation's board of directors *are beyond judicial scrutiny under the business judgment doctrine*[.] [T]he court may inquire as to the *disinterested independence of the members* of that committee and as to the *appropriateness and sufficiency of the investigative procedures* chosen and pursued by the committee.

---

<sup>7</sup> Delaware and a small minority of jurisdictions depart from the business judgment rule by permitting the court to engage in a discretionary review of the substantive merit of the special litigation committee's decision. *See, e.g., Zapata Corp. v. Maldonado*, 430 A.2d 779, 789 (Del. 1981). This minority rule is inconsistent with Nevada's business judgment rule and, as explained in the text, the law of the substantial majority of jurisdictions to have addressed the standard of review applicable to a special litigation committee's determination that claims should be dismissed. It also has been resoundingly criticized. Dennis J. Block & Adam Prussin, *The Business Judgment Rule and Shareholder Derivative Actions: Viva Zapata?*, 37 Bus. Law. 27, 62-63 (1981) ("There can be no escaping the conclusion that step 2 of the *Zapata* rule implicates everything the business judgment rule was created to avoid. The very concept that courts have independent business judgment is, in fact, a contradiction of over 250 years of legal development."). In all events, the District Court determined that, even if such a discretionary review were permitted, it was not necessary because there was nothing to suggest any serious error with the SLC's conclusion. (Vol. 41 JA10098:9-12 (FFCL).)

393 N.E.2d at 996 (emphasis added). The Alabama Supreme Court similarly explained in *Roberts v. Alabama Power Co.*, 404 So. 2d 629, 636 (Ala. 1981),

There would be no purpose served by allowing a shareholder to bring a derivative suit after a thorough and good faith determination that such a suit would not be in the best interest of the corporation. To allow a suit under these circumstances would be to substitute the judgment of the court and the shareholder for that of the board of directors when it is obvious that the directors are best situated to make such a determination.

404 So. 2d at 636; *see also In re UnitedHealth Grp. Inc. S'holder Derivative Litig.*, 754 N.W.2d 544, 557 (Minn. 2008) (“[A]llowing courts to second-guess the decision of an SLC undermines the SLC process itself, denying corporations a vital means of avoiding strike suits and other abusive derivative litigation.”).<sup>8</sup> Put simply, “the good faith exercise of business judgment by a special litigation committee of disinterested directors is immune to attack by shareholders or the courts.” *Lewis v. Anderson*, 615 F.2d 778, 783 (9th Cir. 1979). Under the business judgment rule, the District Court therefore was required to defer to the SLC’s business judgment upon finding that the SLC was independent and conducted a good faith, thorough investigation.

---

<sup>8</sup> *See also TP Orthodontics, Inc. v. Kesling*, 15 N.E.3d 985, 991 (Ind. 2014); *Hirsch v. Jones Intercable, Inc.*, 984 P.2d 629, 637-38 (Colo. 1999); *Cuker v. Mikalauskas*, 692 A.2d 1042, 1048 (Pa. 1997); *Miller v. Bargaheiser*, 591 N.E.2d 1339, 1343 (Ohio Ct. App. 1990).

Its decision to defer to the SLC's business judgment should therefore be upheld unless these findings were clearly erroneous, and they were not. *See, e.g., Ogawa v. Ogawa*, 125 Nev. 660, 668, 221 P.3d 699, 704 (2009) ("The district court's factual findings . . . are given deference and will be upheld if not clearly erroneous and if supported by substantial evidence.") (citation omitted).<sup>9</sup>

The District Court found that there was not even a genuine dispute, much less proof by a preponderance of the evidence, to support Jacksonville's challenge to the SLC's independence. The District Court concluded that the SLC as a whole was independent. The District Court also concluded that Lillis was "clearly independent," and that his independence, "coupled with the unusual voting structure of the SLC demonstrates that the SLC is independent." (Vol. 41 JA010100:15-101:6 (FFCL).) The District Court found that the SLC "conducted a good faith, thorough investigation." (Vol. 41 JA010103-04 (FFCL).) Jacksonville alleges no error, much less clear error, in any one of these factual conclusions.

Jacksonville incorrectly suggests that the District Court was not permitted to make factual findings as to the independence of the SLC and the good faith, thoroughness of its investigation. (OB 37-38.) According to Jacksonville, the

---

<sup>9</sup> For cases applying the clearly erroneous standard or an even more deferential standard of review to factual findings concerning the independence and good faith thoroughness of a special litigation committee, please see *Allied Ready Mix, Burgess, and Miller*, cited *infra* at 37-38 & n.10.

District Court should have determined only whether there was a genuine issue of material fact on these points and, if there were such an issue, permitted Jacksonville to proceed with its Claims. (*Id.*)

Jacksonville's position is incorrect, for at least three reasons: *First*, Jacksonville's position is inconsistent with this Court's treatment of the substantially identical issue in *Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp.*, 122 Nev. 621, 645, 137 P.3d 1171, 1187 (2006) and *In re Amerco Derivative Litigation*, 127 Nev. 196, 252 P.3d 681 (2011). In both decisions in the same case, the Court held that a plaintiff, having not made a pre-suit demand upon a corporation's board, could not proceed with derivative claims on behalf of a corporation. *Shoen* 122 Nev. at 644-45, 137 P.3d at 1186-87; *Amerco*, 127 Nev. 196, 222, 252 P.3d 681, 700. It held that the plaintiff could not proceed unless and until the District Court held an evidentiary hearing and *found* on the evidence presented that the board lacked independence or did not act in good faith, such that the demand on the board would have been futile. *Shoen*, 122 Nev. at 645, 137 P.3d at 1187 ("If the district court should find the pleadings provide sufficient particularized facts to show demand futility, it must later conduct an evidentiary hearing to determine, as a matter of law, whether the demand requirement nevertheless deprives the shareholder of his or her standing to sue."); *see also Amerco*, 252 P.3d at 700 (same). As factual



findings were required in *Shoen* and *Amerco* before the plaintiff could proceed with its case, the same should apply here.

*Second*, Jacksonville's position is inconsistent with the law of many other jurisdictions to have specifically addressed special litigation committees. In such jurisdictions, a plaintiff may not proceed with derivative claims absent factual findings that the special litigation committee lacked independence or did not conduct a good faith, thorough investigation. *See, e.g., Madvig v. Gaither*, 461 F. Supp. 2d 398, 403-04, 407-11 (W.D.N.C. 2006) (dismissing action based on SLC's determination upon finding that "both [SLC members] acted independently" and that the plaintiff had failed to show "a lack of 'good faith'"); *Miller v. Bargaheiser*, 591 N.E.2d 1339, 1343-45 (Ohio Ct. App. 1990) (affirming trial court's dismissal of derivative suit based on SLC recommendation and holding that "courts will defer" to an SLC recommendation where the SLC is independent, "the SLC conducts its inquiry in good faith" and the SLC's "recommendation is the product of a thorough investigation"); *Wylie ex rel. W Holdings Co. v. Stipes*, 797 F. Supp. 2d 193, 204 (D.P.R. 2011) (granting SLC motion to terminate derivative suit based on the court's "find[ing] that the SLC acted rationally and with a good faith belief that its decision was in the best interest of [the corporation]"); *Johnson ex rel. MAII Holdings, Inc. v. Jackson Walker, L.L.P.*, 247 S.W.3d 765, 776 (Tex. App. 2008) (upholding findings "regarding the good faith and reasonable inquiry as to

the determination to dismiss” because the “evidence [was] legally and factually sufficient to support” such findings).<sup>10</sup> If a genuine dispute of material fact is shown, the court resolves it at an evidentiary hearing. *Day v. Stascavage*, 251 P.3d 1225, 1229 (Colo. Ct. App. 2010) (holding that genuine issues of fact as to the SLC’s independence and thoroughness “must be resolved by a court after an evidentiary hearing”); *Houle v. Low*, 556 N.E.2d 51, 59 (Mass. 1990) (same).<sup>11</sup>

*Third*, Jacksonville’s position is inconsistent with Nevada’s business judgment rule. Under Jacksonville’s position, the District Court would be required to ignore the business judgment of the SLC, based upon the mere raising of a

---

<sup>10</sup> See also *Allied Ready Mix Co. ex rel. Mattingly v. Allen*, 994 S.W.2d 4, 7-9 (Ky. Ct. App. 1998) (upholding the trial court’s findings of “good faith and reasonableness on the part of the special litigation committees” because they were “supported by evidence presented in the record and . . . not clearly erroneous”); *Ankerson v. Epik Corp.*, 690 N.W.2d 885 (TABLE), 2004 WL 2434571, at \*1 (Wis. Ct. App. 2004) (affirming trial court’s dismissal of derivative claims “[b]ecause the trial court’s findings of fact [that SLC was independent] are not clearly erroneous”); *Burgess v. Patterson*, 188 So. 3d 537, 547 (Miss. 2016) (“[W]e hold that appellate review of a dismissal of a shareholder derivative suit [upon an SLC’s recommendation] is a mixed question of law and fact[,]” and “the trial court’s factual findings [are] reviewed for clear error . . . .”) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); Model Business Corporation Act § 7.44(d) (2013) (discussing the “burden of *proving*” a lack of independence and good faith) (emphasis added); Official Comment to Model Business Corporation Act § 7.44 (2013) (discussing the “burden of convincing the court” regarding good faith).

<sup>11</sup> Only in a minority of jurisdictions may a plaintiff proceed with derivative claims upon the mere raising of an issue. See, e.g., *Johnson v. Hui*, 811 F. Supp. 479, 485 (N.D. Cal. 1991).

genuine issue of material fact, even if the Court would find on the full evidentiary record that the SLC was independent and conducted a good faith, thorough investigation. Under Jacksonville's proposal, the paramount role of the board in managing the business and affairs of the corporation would be severely compromised. No court would ever rule on the merits of the SLC's right to act on behalf of the corporation, because once a conclusion is made that a board or committee was not entitled to summary judgment on their good faith and independence, these issues are unreviewable and the derivative plaintiff may proceed.

Contrary to Jacksonville's assertion, the SLC did not agree that the District Court should not make factual findings. Before Jacksonville had requested or obtained discovery concerning the independence of the SLC and the good faith, thoroughness of its investigation, the SLC argued that, if Jacksonville "comes forward with evidence sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact, the court should resolve the factual dispute . . . ." (Vol. 24 JA005785 n.25 (SLC's Opening Brief in Support of Motion to Defer).) Jacksonville thereafter obtained discovery and presented its evidence, and the District Court addressed, in the same

hearing and Decision, both whether there was a genuine issue and whether the SLC was independent and conducted a good faith, thorough investigation.<sup>12</sup>

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